IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-75-01730

ARVIN DALE ROCHELL,

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT.

Versus

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, SUB NOM.,
STATE PAROLE BOARD MEMBERS,
GOV. HALEY BARBOUR, and
MISSISSIPPI LEGISLATURES,

DEFENDANTS-APPELLEE(S).



JUL 0 9 2009
OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPHEME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLANT BRIEF

On appeal from the Hinds County Circuit Court

The Honorable Winston L. Kidd, Judge

Oral arguments not requested

/s/

Arvin D. Rochell
Appellant pro se

Mr. Arvin D. Rochell MDOC 83848 Unit 26B, Zone-E, Bed-266 Parchman, MS 38738

INTRODUCTION

This appeal calls for the definitive first impression interpretation of several Mississippi Parole Statutes, i.e., $\S\S47-7-3(3)(a)$, 47-7-5(1) and 47-7-17. No state or federal court in a citiable opinion has ever interpreted these statutes in the context of this case.

The interpretation of these statutes will revolve around some of the most important pivotal laws in the state parole scheme. Therefore, it is the duty of this Court "to give effect, if possible, to every clause and word" of each statute in question. United States v. Menasche, 348 U.S. 528, 538-39 (1955). "The courts have no right to add anything to or take anything from a statute, where the language in plain and unambiguous. To do so would be entrenching upon the power of the legislature. Neither have the courts authority to write into the statute something which the legislature did not itself write therein ... "Sheppard v. Miss. State Hwy. Patrol, 693 So.2d 1326, 1328 (Miss. 1997). "Where the language used by the legislature in a statute is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning there is no occasion to resort to rules of statute interpretation." Lanier v. State, 635 So.2d 813, 832 (Miss. 1994)(citations omitted).

JURISDICTION .

This Court has original jurisdiction over this action under Art. 6, Sec. 156 of the State Constitution and should interpret state statutes pursuant to \$1-3-1, et seq. of the Miss. Code Ann of 1972.

STATEMENT OF CLAIMS

I.

BASED ON THE INTERPRETATION OF \$47-7-5(1) HOW MANY MEMBERS IS REQUIRED TO CONSTITUTE THE PAROLE BOARD AS THE TERM "BOARD" IS USED THROUGHOUT THE STATUTORY PAROLE SCHEME?

II.

BASED ON THE INTERPRETATION OF ALL STATE PAROLE STATUTES
DOES THE LEGISLATION PLACE A LIMIT ON THE MAXIMUM AMOUNT
OF TIME THAT A VIOLENT OFFENDER CAN BE DENIED RECONSIDERATION
OF HIS/HER APPLICATION AFTER THE INITIAL APPLICATION IS
REJECTED? IF NOT, DOES SUCH UNCONTROLLED DISCRETION OFFEND
SECTIONS 1. 2. AND 33 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION?

III.

BASED ON THE INTERPRETATION OF §47-7-3(3)(a) WHAT IS THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT IN THE LANGUAGE THAT REQUIRES THE PAROLE BOARD WITHIN THE FIRST 90 DAYS OF CONFINEMENT TO "PREDICT THE LENGTH OF INCARCERATION NECESSARY BEFORE THE OFFENDER CAN BE SUCCESSFULLY PAROLED"? DOES NOT SUCH PREDICTION OFFEND DUE PROCESS IN THE DECISIONMAKING PROCESS AND RUN CONTRARY TO §§47-7-3(1) AND 47-7-17?

IV.

BASED ON THE INTERPRETATION OF ALL STATE PAROLE STATUTES DOES THE LEGISLATURE INTEND FOR AN OFFENDER TO BE DENIED PAROLE BASED ON FALSE OR ERRONEOUS INFORMATION IN HIS/HER PAROLE FILE? IF NOT, THEN WHY CAN OFFENDERS NOT CORRECT SUCH INFORMATION IN THEIR FILES AFTER THE PAROLE BOARD IS NOTIFIED THAT THE FILE CONTAINS SUCH INFORMATION?

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT COMMITTED ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION AFTER ROCHELL WAS DENIED PAROLE BECAUSE OF THIS LITIGATION BASED ON BOILERPLATE REASONS?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Arvin Dale Rochell (hereinafter "Rochell") was convicted of murder and arson in the Calhoun County Circuit Court in January, 1994. Rochell was sentenced to life imprisonment for murder plus twenty (20) years for arson with the sentences run concurrently.

Rochell has been considered for release on parole five (5) times; on March 26, 2002, on January 27, 2004, on November 9, 2005, on March 27, 2007 and again on May 20, 2008. Following the March, 2002, the Mississippi Parole Board (hereinafter "Board") listed several reasons for denying release: serious nature of offense, number of offenses committed, disciplinary reports, community opposition, insufficient time served, and the Board believed the ability or willingness to fulfill the obligations of a law abiding citizen was lacking.

In January, 2004, the Board listed the following reasons for denying release: serious nature of offense, number of offenses committed, police record, prior misdemeanor convictions, community opposition, insufficient time served, and the Board believed the ability or willingness to fulfill the obligations of a law abiding citizen was lacking. In November, 2005, the Board listed five (5) reasons for denying release: serious nature of offense, number of offenses committed, community opposition, and insufficient time served.

On January 19, 2006, Rochell filed a civil suit under 42 U.S.C. §1983 styled Arvin Rochell v. State Parole Board Members, et al, No. 3:06cv39-HTW-TCS, in the United States

District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi against the Board, Gov. Haley Barbour and the Mississippi Legislatures alleging civil rights violations. After an Omnibus Hearing was held on November 29, 2006, both parties consented to moving the litigation to the State Court for the interpretation of several State Parole Statutes.

On January 5, 2007, Rochell filed the current Complaint in the Hinds County Circuit Court against the same defendants' named in the federal case. Rochell sought the exclusive interpretation of multiple parole statutes, the interpretation of the statutes were of first impression. On January 29, 2007, new Defense Counsel filed an answer to the Complaint denying that there was anything for the court to interpret.

At the Parole Hearing held on March 27, 2007, immediately after this litigation was filed, Parole Board Members Warnock, Thomas and Brown acted contrary to the mandatory standard set forth in \$47-7-17, MCA. The Board jointly asked Rochell a total of four (4) questions concerning the information required by \$47-7-17 to be considered in each parole decision in Mississippi. Board Member Warnock, an Attorney, asked Rochell multiple questions concerning the current litigation. Warnock even asked Rochell about other litigation against the Department of Corrections. The Parole Hearing was primarily about Rochells litigiousness, not the criteria set forth in \$47-7-17. Following the illicit hearing the Board listed five (5) reasons for denying release: serious nature of offense, number of offenses committed, prior police record, community opposition and insufficient time served,

although none of those factors were addressed at the hearing.

Thereafter Rochell filed an official letter of request to the Board seeking for the Board to hold a new de novo hearing based solely on the factors mandated per §47-7-17. Rochell alleged that the Board considering his current litigation denied him a fair and lawful hearing and did at the very least createann atmosphere prejudicial to a fair consideration. The Board did not respond to Rochell.

So on May 3, 2007, Rochell filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction moving the lower court to order the Board to hold a new hearing in accordance with §47-7-17 without considering his litigation activities. On May 7, 2007, the Defendants filed their response to the motion for preliminary injunction, wherein the defendants did not deny or refute that Rochell was questioned extensively concerning his litigation against the Board.

After all relevant discovery was completed, on July 12, 2007, Rochell filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. The Motion was based in part on the Interrogatory responses of Board Members Hamilton and Warnock, wherein all relevant facts were established for the lower court to interpret the parole statutes in question.

On May 20, 2008, after the latest Parole Hearing, the Board listed the same pretext reasons for denying release. However, after much run around, the defendants finally filed their response to the motion for summary judgment on August 22, 2008; still the defendants did not address the interpretation of the parole statutes.

Rochell having attempted multiple times to place the case on the active docket for a hearing to no avail, filed a Writ

of Mandamus to this Court. Rochell sought for the court to compel the lower court to entertain several pending motions. On October 21, 2008, this Honorable Court entered an Order requiring Circuit Judge Winston L. Kidd to file a response to the mandamus within thirty (30) days, being due on or before November 20, 2008. So on November 18, 2008, Honorable Kidd entered an Order finding this action to be without merit, dismissing the entire case with prejudice. Judge Kidd omitted to give any interpretation of the statutes in question although the statutes had never before been interpreted by any State or Federal Court. Judge Kidd also omitted to entertain the retaliation claim in the Motion for Preliminary Injunction.

Rochell timely filed his notice of appeal and a Motion for Leave to Appeal In Forma Pauperis. On December 19, 2008, Judge Kidd granted Rochell leave to appeal in forma pauperis so that this case can be reviewed with an advocate eye.

ARGUMENT OF CLAIMS

I.

Based on the interpretation of §47-7-5(1) how many members is required to constitute the Parole Board as the term "Board" is used throughout the statutory parole scheme?

At the outset Defendants/Appellees Hamilton and Warnock both have admitted in their Interrogatory response No. 2 that "five (5)" members are required to constitute the State Parole Board. The Interrogatory Responses of Hamilton and Warnock are being filed/attached hereto marked as **Exhibit "A"** and **"B"** respectively. See Appellant's Record Excerpts p. 1-14.

Statute 47-7-5(1) states in relevant part:

"The State Parole Board, created under former Section 47-7-5, is hereby created, continued and reconstituted and shall be composed of five (5) members."

Mississippi Statute 47-7-5(1) mandates that the Parole Board be composed of five (5) members. Way v. Miller, 919 So.2d 1036, 1039 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)("shall" is mandatory language in State Parole Statute). The mandatory language in \$47-7-5(1) requires that when any Statute explicitly requires the "Board" to conduct the matter of business, that the Board must consist of five (5) Members. The legislative intent in using the term "Board" in each Parole Statute is obvious upon review of \$\$47-7-5(1), (2), (4) and \$47-7-17, \$\$43\$ as the term "Board" is NOT used interchangable with the term "member" or "members". Therefore the statutory parole scheme mandates that

the "Board" be composed of five (5) members and the scheme does not permit a "member" or "members" to act as the "Board".

Statute 47-7-17 states in relevant part:

"the 'Board'may have the offender appear before it".

Rochell is of the opinion that if the "Board" elects for the offender to appear before "it", that all five (5) Members are mandated at that hearing. According to the clear legislative scheme a committee of less than five (5) members does not constitute a complete "Board" to conduct a proper parole hearing.

During the previous parole hearings of Rochell there was never a complete five (5) member Board and Rochell submits based upon these facts that he has been denied a fair and lawful hearing. It is the practice of the Appelleese to hold parole hearings with only three (3) members, Rochell offers that it is easier for an offender to get three (3) affirmative votes from five (5) members than from only three (3) members. Therefore, since the Appelleese down admit the core facts in this interpretation, this Court should enter judgment requiring that all five (5) Board Members must conduct all future parole hearings, if the Board elects for the offender to appear before them.

The United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has clearly held "a prisoner has no right to release on parole; he has only a statutory right to have the board comply with ... its own rules and guildlines." <u>Brown v. Lundgren</u>, 528 F.2d 1050, 1054-55 (5th Cir. 1976). Mr. Justice Marshall once observed in dissent:

"The Due Process Clause itself, is the premise that regulations bind with equal force whether or not they

are outcome determinative. As its very terms make manifest, the Due Process Clause is first and foremost a guarantor of process. It embodies a commitment to procedural regularity independent of result."

<u>United States v. Caceres</u>, 440 U.S. 741, 764, 99 S.Ct. 1465. 1478 (1979)(dissent).

In the case sub judice it is completely irrelevant that the Parole Board had complete discretion to deny release to Rochell, under Brown the Board still had to comply with the statutory guildlines in conducting the parole hearing with the amount of "Board" Members mandated per §47-7-5(1) and §47-7-17. While this Court has no power to grant parole, this Court does have authority to direct the Mississippi Parole Board to reconsider eligibility for parole. Mississippi v. Read, 544 So.2d 810, 815 Hn. 5 (Miss. 1989)(citation omitted).

II.

Based on the interpretation of all State Parole Statutes does the legislation place a limit on the maximum amount of time that a violent offender can be denied reconsideration of his/her application after the initial application is rejected? If not, does such uncontrolled discretion offend Sections 1, 2 and 33 of the Mississippi Constitution?

At the outset Mr. Hamilton and Mrs. Warnock both have admitted in their Response to Interrogatory No. 3 that there is not a limit placed on the amount of time by legislation.

Exhibit "A" and "B". Record Excerpts (RE) at pp. 1-2 & 7-8.

Rochell submits that the entire Mississippi Parole scheme is unconstitutional in that the legislation grants unlimited discretion to the Parole Board, as to the amount of time permitted between reconsideration hearings; which effectively violates Sections 1, 2 and 33 of the Mississippi Constitutio of 1890.

The State Parole Board, as an executive agency, cannot be vested with an arbitrary and uncontrolled discretion, Howell v. State, 300 So.2d 774 (Miss. 1974), there must be reasonably clear standards by which the discretion granted to the agency is governed.

State v. Allstate Insurance Co., 97 So.2d 372, 375-76 (Miss. 1957). "Agencies have only such powers as are expressly granted to them or necessarily implied, and any such power exercised must be found within the four corners of the statute under which the agency operates". Strong v. Bostick, 420 So.2d 1356, 1361 Hn.7 (Miss. 1982)(citation omitted).

The State Parole Board is the sole cretion of the Mississippi Legislature, the Board possesses only such powers, duties and discretion as are conferred by statutory amendments. However, no where in the Mississippi Code of Annotated does the legislation limit the Boards discretion as to the length of time permitted between parole reconsideration hearings. Thus the sky is the limit with entirely no maximum cap or guildlines. Thereby the Board can force an offender to serve an additional five, ten or even fifteen years before another reconsideration hearing! This practice in the Mississippi parole scheme is invalid as constituting an improper delegation of legislative authority, because this practice fails to provide adequate standards for the guidance to the delegatee of the power.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has addressed the improper delegation of legislative power in <u>Allstate</u> there the Court explicitly held:

Legislative power or functions may be delegated to

an administrative agency only in the limited sense that the statute must set forth the legislative decision and must prescribe adequate standards or rules for the agency's guidance. It cannot be vested with an arbitrary and uncontrolled discretion.

[T]these functions in a resticted manner may be delegated to executive or administrative agencies by the acts of the legislature if the latter prescribe limits within which the administrative grantees are to operate. The principal doctrines involved are those respecting the separation and delegation of powers, both of these lead to the practical field of adequacy of legislative standards. That term is used to embrace statements of objective, policy or purpose, as well as definitions, specifications, requisites and limitations. In other words there should be a reasonable clear standard by which the discretion granted to the agency must be governed. Allstate, 97 So.2d at 375-76 (citations omitted).

In this instance, the Legislature must delegate to the Parole Board the maximum length of time permitted between each periodic parole hearing. According to the Mississippi Constitution and Allstate the Parole Board cannot have uncontrolled discretion in setting the number of years between periodic reviews; although the Board does have complete discretion to deny release at each periodic review. The Legislature have established criminal sentencing guildlines, parole eligibility guildlines, and there must be established parole reconsideration guildlines. The current reconsideration scheme is illicit due to the Legislatures have delegated unlimited discretion to the Parole Board, when such arbitrary delegation of legislative power in contrary to Sections 1, 2 and 33 of the State Constitution, thereby in violation of the State Due Process Clause.

If the legislative intent for parole eligibility in §47-7-3 is to have any logical effect, then the frequency of parole suitability hearings must be fixed by statute. "Parole

reconsideration hearings is both in law and in practice an important component of a prisoners parole eligibility". Akins v. Snow, 922 F.2d 1558, 1568 (11th Cir. 1981). This Court should enter judgment against the Mississippi Legislatures requiring them to adopt written guildlines on the maximum length of time permitted between parole reconsideration hearings.

III.

Based on the interpretation of $\S47-7-3(3)(a)$ what is the legislative intent in the language that requires the Parole Board within the first 90 days of confinement to "predict the length of incarceration necessary before the offender can be successfully paroled"? Does not such prediction offend due process in the decisionmaking process and run contrary to $\S\S47-7-3(1)$ and 47-7-17?

At the outset Mr. Hamilton and Mrs. Warnock both stated in their Response to Interrogatory No. 4 that the legislative intent meant "what it says" in \$47-7-7(3)(a). Exhibit "A" and "B". RE at pp. 2 & 8.

Statute 47-7-3(3)(a) states in relevant part:

The State Parole Board shall by rules and regulations establish a method of determining a tentative parole hearing date for each eligible offender taken into custody of the Department of Corrections. The tentative parole hearing date shall be determined within ninety (90) days after the department has assumed custody of the offender. Such tentative parole hearing date shall be calculated by a formula taking into account the offender's age upon first commitment. number of prior incarcerations, prior probation or parole failures, the severity and the violence of the offense committed, employment history and other criteria which in the opinion of the board tend tovalidly and reliably predict the length of incarceration necessary before the offender can be successfully paroled.

Rochell asserts that the entire Mississippi parole hearing and eligibility scheme set forth in §§47-7-3(1) and 47-7-17 is a sham due to the Parole Board is mandated by §47-7-3(3)(a) to predetermine within the first 90 days of confinement, with "validly and reliably", the length of incarceration necessary before the offender can be "successfully paroled". The unambiguous command in §47-7-3(3)(a) requires the Board to predetermine the successful release date, not the hearing date, years in advance to the initial parole eligibility date set forth in §47-7-3(1).

In this case, according to §47-7-3(3)(a), the Parole Board had prejudged the year that Rochell would be "successfully paroled" over fifteen years prior to Rochell's last parole hearing. This legislative scheme denys to Rochell a fair and lawful hearing by an impartial board in violation of the Federal Due Process Clause, completely making a mockery of the fairness in the State parole process.

The parole eligibility clause in §47-7-17 requires the Board to "secure and consider", inter alia, the offenders "conduct, employment and ATTITUDE WHILE IN THE CUSTODY OF THE DEPARTMENT". These factors in §47-7-17, nevertheless, cannot be considered in the predetermined decision required by §47-7-3(3)(a) because the predetermination occurs within the first 90 days of confinement and the factors have not yet occurred at that point of incarcerations. The criteria set forth in §47-7-17, in part, is worthless due to the offenders conduct, employment and attitude throughout his/her confinement has entirely no bearing

on the decision mandated per §47-7-3(3)(a). Therefore, the legislation requires the Parole Board to prejudge the release date of Rochell, notwithstanding any consideration of his good prison conduct, employment history while incarcerated, community support, rehabilitation and educational accomplishments while confined. See Greenholtz v. Inmates of the Nebraska Penal and Corrections Complex, 442 U.S. 1, 15, 99 S.Ct. 2100, 2107-08 (1979)("The behavior record of an inmate during confinement is critical in the sense that it reflects the degree to which the inmate is prepared to adjust to parole release").

The mere fact that the Legislatures in \$47-7-3(1) set forth the number of years that Rochell must serve to be eligible for parole release is a falsehood; according to \$47-7-3(3)(a) Rochell is not truly eligible for release until the predetermined number of years have elapsed. For example, the legislation in Statute 47-7-3(1) states that an offender, like Rochell, sentenced to life prior to July 1, 1994, is eligible for parole release after serving ten (10) years. On the other hand, the Parole Board can determine within the first 90 days of confinement that Rochell needs to serve thirty (30) years to be "successfully paroled" pursuant to their authority in \$47-7-3(3)(a). Therewith all parole hearings starting at the initial eligibility date of ten (10) years continuing throughout the next twenty (20) years is a sham.

Rochell calls into question the logic, integrity and fairness of the Parole system with the Board predetermining the successful parole date years in advance. <u>Greenholtz</u>, 442 U.S. at 34, 99 S.Ct. at 2117 ("[T]his court has stressed the

importance of adopting procedures that preserve the appearance of fairness and the confidence of inmates in the [parole] decisionmaking process"). The Parole Board should not be permitted to continue the illicit practice of predetermining the year that offenders will be "sucessfully paroled" years in advance to their first parole hearings. Each offender must receive due process in the parole decisionmaking process. This Court should enter judgment against the Parole Board and State Legislatures requiring them to immediately stop the practices required in \$47-7-3(3)(a), as the parole eligibility date is set forth in \$47-7-3(1) not \$47-7-3(3)(a).

IV.

Based on the interpretation of all State Parole Statutes does the Legislatures intend for an offender to be denied parole based on false or erroneous information in his/her parole file? If not, then why can offender not correct such information in their files after the Parole Board is notified that the file contains such information?

At the outset Mr. Hamilton and Mrs. Warnock both admitted in their Response to Interrogatory No. 7 that the legislation does not intend for Rochell to be denied parole based on false information in his file. Exhibit "A" and "B". However, Hamilton and Warnock both also admit that Rochell has not been permitted to correct erroneous information in his parole file because "the Board has access to Rochell's explanation". id at Response to Interrogatory No. 16. Hamilton and Warnock are of the opinion that no danger is posed to Rochell by false information being contained in his file. id at Response to Interrogatory No. 17.

RE at pp. 2. 4, 9 & 11.

Rochell has informed the Parole Board multiple times that the "Pre/post Sentence Investigation" Report contained in the file contains false information concerning his crimes. Rochell offered this fact to the lower court in an Affidavit in support of the Motion for Summary Judgment filed on July 13, 2007.RE p. 24. Mr. Hamilton and Mrs. Warnock have admitted that they have reviewed Rochells' file in making parole decisions. Exhibit "A" and "B" at Response to Interrogatory No. 19. Therefore the Board has reviewed false information to deny parole to Rochell.

The danger posed to a parole canidate by the risk thaty his records contain incorrect information is clearly not insignificant. Walker v. Prison Review Bd., 694 F.2d 499, 503 (7th Cir. 1982)(citing Greenholtz, 442 U.S. at 15 n.7, 99 S.Ct. at 2108 n.7 (dictum)("Risk of error in that relevant adverse information in the inmate's file is wholly inaccurate"). Inaccurate information in the parole file that remains unverified or unrebutted inflates the risk of erroneous decisions and could flaw the decisionmaking process. Williams v. Missouri Bd. of Probation and Parole, 661 F.2d 697, 699-700 (8th Cir. 1981).

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