2008-CP-01730SCTE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an

interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices

of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal:

- 1. Inmate Arvin Dale Rochell, Appellant
- 2. Hon. Winston Kidd, Circuit Court Judge
- 3. Jim Hood, Attorney General for the State of Mississippi

The undersigned counsel further certifies that the following attorneys have an interest

in the outcome of this case:

For Appellee:

- 1. Jane Mapp, Special Assistant Attorney General, State of Mississippi

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Rochell filed a compliant seeking the court's interpretation of Mississippi's parole statues. The Parole Board and not the trial court has jurisdiction over parole matters and

 $^{^{1}}C.P. = Clerk's Papers$

Plaintiff's failure to state a viable claim against the Defendant left the Circuit Court without jurisdiction in this cause.

ARGUMENT

I. Based on the Interpretation of § 47-7-5(1) How Many Members Is [Sic] Required to Constitute the Parole Board as the Term "Board" Is Used Throughout the Statutory Parole Scheme?]

Rochell argues that since Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-5 states that the Parole Board "shall be composed of five (5) members" then anytime a statute requires an action to be taken by the "Board" all five (5) members must participate or there has been no action by the "Board" but rather only action by members of the Board which he argues is insufficient. Rochell states that during his previous parole hearings only three (3) members of the Board were present. He maintains that since Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-17 states in part that "the board may have the offender appear before it an interview him" then all five (5) members must be present.

At the time Rochell filed his complaint, Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-13 (Rev. 2004) read in pertinent part as follows:

A majority of the board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of all business. A decision to parole an offender convicted of murder or a sex-related crime shall require the affirmative vote of three (3) members.²

This section clearly allows three members of the five-member Board to conduct parole hearings. Accordingly, Rochell's argument is without merit.

²§ 47-7-13 was amended in 2009 to require an affirmative vote of four (4) members before offender convicted or capital murder or a sex-related crime may be paroled.

II. Based on the Interpretation of All State Parole Statutes Does the Legislation Place a Limit on the Maximum Amount of Time That a Violent Offender Can Be Denied Reconsideration of His/her Application after the Initial Application Is Rejected? If Not, Does Such Uncontrolled Discretion Offender Sections 1, 2, and 33 of the Mississippi Constitution?

Rochell argues that Mississippi's parole scheme is unconstitutional since the legislation grants unlimited discretion to the Parole Board as to the amount of time permitted between reconsideration hearings. Rochell maintains that this unlimited discretion violates

It is well settled that Mississippi prisoners have "no constitutionally recognized liberty interest" in parole. *See, Cotton v. Mississippi Parole Board*, 863 So.2d 917 (Miss. 2003) (Held that the parole Board has "absolute discretion" to grant or deny parole within the boundaries established in Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-3 and that absent a viable constitutional claim the circuit court has no jurisdiction over appeals concerning the denial or parole); *Shanks v. State*, 672 So.2d 1207, 1208 (Miss. 1996) (Held that the Parole Board and not the trial court has jurisdiction over parole matters.); *Mitchell v. State*, 561 So.2d 1037, 1039 (Miss. 1990)(Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-3, parole matters are the exclusive responsibility of the parole board); *Scales v. Mississippi State Parole Board*, 831 F.2d 565, 566 (5th Cir. 1987)(Mississippi's parole statutes confers absolute discretion on the Parole Board.) Mississippi's parole statutes have been held by both the Mississippi Supreme Court and the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals to be constitutional.

Since Mississippi prisoners have no right to parole, they have no right to be reconsidered for parole at specific intervals. The Legislature in Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-17

gave the Parole Board the authority to adopt rules concerning the "conduct of parole hearings...." This includes a determination by the Board as to when an offender who has been denied parole will be reconsidered. Accordingly, this issue is without merit.

III. Based on the Interpretation of § 47-7-3(3)(A) What Is the Legislative Intent in the Language That Requires the Parole Board Within the First 90 Days of Confinement to "Predict the Length of Incarceration Necessary Before the Offender Can Be Successfully Paroled"? Does Not Such Prediction Offend Due Process in the Decision Making Process and Run Contrary to §§ 47-7-3(1) and 47-7-17?

Rochell argues that Miss. Code Ann. §47-7-3(3) requires the Parole Board to predetermine the date an offender may be successfully paroled, not just the date he would be eligible for a parole hearing. Rochell maintains that this language violates his due process rights and denies him the right to have other factors set out in Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-17 considered during the parole process.

Miss. Code Ann. § 47-7-3(3) reads as follows:

The State Parole Board shall, by rules and regulations, establish a method of determining a tentative parole hearing date for each eligible offender taken into the custody of the Department of Corrections. The tentative parole hearing date shall be determined within ninety (90) days afer the department has assumed the custody of the offender. Such tentative parole hearing date shall be calculated by a formula taking into account the offender's age upon first commitment, number of prior incarcerations, prior probation or parole failures, the severity and the violence of the offense committed, employment history, whether the offender served in the United States Armed Forces and has an honorable discharge, and other criteria which in the opinion of the board tend to validly and reliably predict the length of incarceration necessary before the offender can be successfully paroled.

This subsection requires that within 90 days after the Department of Corrections has

assumed custody of an offender that a tentative parole hearing date be determined for eligible

4

offenders. The section states that in addition to the minimum time required for parole eligibility, the Parole Board may establish a tentative parole hearing date by taking into consideration any factor that would "tend to validly and reliably predict the length of incarceration necessary before the offender can be successfully paroled." The subsection does not create a second secret parole date that the offender does not know about. It merely allows the Board to consider addition factors when establishing the offender's initial parole eligibility date. There is no evidence to suggest that Rochell's initial parole eligibility date was beyond the ten years minimum he was required to serve by statute. Additionally, since Rochell has no liberty interest in parole he may not challenge parole procedures under the due process clause. *Hopson v. Miss. State Parole Bd.*, 976 So.2d 973, 976 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008); *Johnson v. Rodriguez*, 110 F.3d 299, 309 (5th Cir. 1997). Accordingly, this issue is without merit.

IV. Based on the Interpretation of All State Parole Statutes Does the Legislature Intend for an Offender to Be Denied Parole Based on False or Erroneous Information in His/her Parole File? If Not, Then Why Can Offenders Not Correct Such Information in Their Files after the Parole Board Is Notified That the File Contains Such Information?

Rochell argues that there is false or incorrect information contained in the pre/post sentence investigation (PSI) report which is included in his parole file, but that he has not been allowed to correct it. Rochell claims that the PSI contains false information regarding a prior arson conviction. In the lower court he pointed to an National Crime Information Center (NCIC) report and a "Motion to Suppress" filed by his attorney in his criminal case to show he had not been previously convicted of arson. The PSI clearly states that the prior arson charge was dismissed. Additionally, the Parole Board has given Rochell an opportunity to provide any information regarding this entry on the PSI. Not all arrests are entered into the NCIC database and according to the PSI information used in the report was also obtained from the Calhoun County Sheriff's Office.

Rochell asks the Court to order the Parole Board to adopt rules and regulations to permit inmates to verify their files and correct any false or erroneous information. The Parole Board in their answers to Rochell's interrogatories informed him the he could review his file and present any evidence or explanations for what he considered false or inaccurate information. The fact that Rochell knows what is in his parole file suggests that he has had to opportunity to review it and he admits that he has provided the Board with information to suggest that the information regarding at least one prior crime inaccurate. Rochell's explanation would undoubtedly be considered in the Board's review of his file and in their decision as to how much weight to given the contested information.

Rochell cites to number cases from other jurisdictions in arguing that false information in his parole file violates his rights. None of these cited cases are from Mississippi or the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. In *Johnson v. Rodriguez*, 110 F.3d 299, 309 (5th Cir. 1997), the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals stated that "[t]he protections of the Due Process Clause are only invoked when State procedures which may produce erroneous or unreliable results imperil a protected liberty or property interest." *Id.* at 308. (citations omitted). The Court went on to state that "allegations that the Board considers unreliable or even false information in making parole determinations, without more, simply do not assert a federal constitutional violation." The Fifth Circuit went on to state:

It is our view that the procedural Due Process protections created in *Monroe* and *Paine* [v. *Baker*, 595 F.2d 197 (4th Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 925, 100 S.Ct. 263, 62 L.Ed.2d 181 (1979),] are in essence inconsistent with subsequent precedent in their respective circuits and that both cases have thus been effectively overruled. Whatever the viability of these anomalous cases today, our precedent is definite and precise on this point: in the absence of a cognizable liberty interest, a state prisoner cannot challenge parole procedures under the Due Process Clause.

Id. at 309, fn 13.

Since Rochell has no liberty interest in being granted parole the possibility that the Board may have considered on false information in making their decision does not give rise to a due process claim. See *Hopson v.* 976 So.2d at 975(held that the Court lack jurisdiction to hear offender's claims that his parole was improperly denied because of false information contained in his parole file). This issue is without merit.

V. Whether the Lower Court Committed Err [Sic] in Denying the Motion for Preliminary Injunction after Rochell Was Denied Parole Because of this Litigation Based on Boilerplate Reasons?

Rochell argues that the lower court erred in denying his Motion for Preliminary Injunction seeking an order vacating the Board's previous denial of parole and requiring the Board to conduct a new parole hearing. Rochell argues that he was entitled to a preliminary injunction because the Board allegedly considered the current litigation when making its decision to deny him parole. Whether to grant a preliminary injunction is within the discretion of the trial court. (See comments to M.R.C.P. 65.) Rochell sought a new parole hearing at which the Board would be "directed to NOT consider, in any manner, the litigation activities of Rochell and instructed to not deny release on the unchangeable reasons used in the previous four hearings, nor any boilerplate reasons." (C.P. at 66). Rochell was in essence seeking an order from the trial court giving him a new parole hearing and directing the Parole Board as to what it could and could not consider when determining whether or not to grant him parole.

The lower court did not abuse its discretion in failing to grant Rochell's Motion for Preliminary Injunction. As stated previously, parole is within the complete discretion of the parole board and the circuit court had no jurisdiction to dictate or re-weigh the factors considered by the Board in making its parole decision. *See*, *Cotton*, 863 So.2d at 921. Accordingly, this issue is without merit.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments of fact and law herein above, it is clear that the trial court did not commit reversible error and its decision dismissing Plaintiff's complaint should be affirmed.